


B. First Amendment to Airport Facilities Lease and Concession Agreement 2

- Approve the first amendment to the current Tailwind GJT, LLC lease to remove
the existing pre-security coffee shop and replace and relocate pre-security
concession offerings with vending and self-serve coffee and authorize the CEO to
sign the amendment.

C. AIP Grant Application for Runway Pavement Construction and Conversion 3

- Authorize the Chief Executive Officer to sign and submit an Airport Improvement
Program grant application to the Federal Aviation Administration for the Runway
Replacement Project.

D. Aeronautical Use Access Permit with PJ Helicopters 4

- Approve the Aeronautical Use Access Permit with PJ Helicopters for the purpose
of storing a refueling vehicle on Airport property and authorize the Chief
Executive Officer to sign the agreement.

VIl Action

A. Resolution No. 2025-007 New Purchasing and Procurement Policy 5

- Adopt Resolution 2025-007 to approve updates to the Purchasing and
Procurement Policy.

VIIL. Staff Reports

A. CEO Report (Angela Padalecki)
B. Finance Report (Sarah Menge) 6
C. Project Update

IX. Any other business which may come before the Board

X. Adjournment

June 17, 2025



A=
GRAND JUNCTION

REGIONAL AIRPORT

Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority Board
Regular Board Meeting
Meeting Minutes
May 20, 2025

REGULAR BOARD MEETING

. Call to Order

Ms. Linde Marshall, Board Chairman, called the Meeting of the Grand Junction Regional Airport
Authority Board to order at 11:30 AM on May 20, 2025 in Grand Junction, Colorado and in the
County of Mesa. The meeting was hosted in the 3™ floor conference room as well as electronically.

Commissioners Present: Airport Staff Continued:
Linde Marshall (Chair) Shawn Stratton
Chris West (Vice Chairman) Dave Murray
Quint Shear Tony Martin
Thaddeus Shrader Ron Edmunds
Cody Davis Danny Kingman
Lee Kleinman Jimmy Ruiz
Cody Kennedy Brandon Mittan
Don Wilson
Airport Staff:
Angela Padalecki (CEO) Guests:
Dan Reimer (Counsel) Colin Bible — Garver
Cameron Rece (Deputy Clerk) Harrison Earl- CMT
Jennifer Kroeker Rebecca Wagoner — Gensler
Travis Portenier Jeremy Lee- Mead and Hunt
Dylan Heberlein Brad Rolf- Mead and Hunt
Kristina Warren Jesse Fabula- Lochner
Ben Peck Louis Villaire
Sarah Menge Isaac Ketcham
Rick Nisley

. Pledge of Allegiance
Il. Approval of Agenda

May 20, 2025 Minutes — Page 1



Commissioner Shrader made a motion to approve the May 20, 2025 Board Agenda. Commissioner
Kleinman seconded the motion. Voice Vote: All Ayes; motion carries.

Iv. Commissioner Comments
Commissioner Shrader gave a signage update of being in final phases of design.
Chair, Marshall recognized Jimmy Ruiz — 20 years of service.

V. Citizen Comments
No Citizen Comments were made

VI. Consent Agenda

A. April 15, 2025 Meeting Minutes
Approve the April 15, 2025 Board Meeting Minutes.

B. Airport Insurance Policy Renewal
Authorize the CEO to select and sign 2025-2026 insurance policies up to a total annual
policy period cost of $205,000 with deductibles of no more than $100,000.

Commissioner West made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda. Commissioner Kleinman
seconded the motion. Voice Vote: All Ayes; motion carries.

VII. Action

A. CDOT Division of Aeronautics Grant 25-GJT-01
Adopt resolution no. 2025-006 to accept the $302,631 grant from the Colorado Division
of Aeronautics for matching funds for anticipated 2025 FAA Airport Improvement
Program (AIP) and Airport Infrastructure Grants.

Commissioner Davis made a motion to adopt resolution no. 2025-006 to accept the $302,631
grant from the Colorado Division of Aeronautics for matching funds for anticipated 2025 FAA
Airport Improvement Program (AIP) and Airport Infrastructure Grants. Commissioner Kleinman
seconded the motion. Roll Call Vote: Commissioner Shrader, yes; Commissioner Davis, yes;
Commissioner Shear, yes; Commissioner West, yes; Commissioner Marshall, yes. Commissioner
Kleinman, yes; and Commissioner Kennedy; yes. The motion carries.

VIIl. Discussion
A. Leakage Study Update — Harrison Earl

IX. Staff Reports

A. Airport Intern Presentation

B. CEO Report (Angela Padalecki)
C. Finance Report (Sarah Menge)
D

. Project Update
May 20, 2025 Minutes — Page 2



X. Executive Session — Legal Advice
A. Executive Session for the purpose of conferring with general counsel to receive legal
advice on specific legal questions, as authorized by Colorado Revised Statute 24-6-
402(4)(b), specifically including potential effects of new federal grant conditions.

Commissioner Kennedy made a motion to move into Executive Session for the purpose of
conferring with general counsel to receive legal advice on specific legal questions, as authorized
by Colorado Revised Statute 24-6-402(4)(b), specifically including potential effects of new federal
grant conditions. Commissioner Kleinman seconded the motion. Voice Vote: All Ayes; motion
carries.

Commissioner Kennedy made a motion to move from Executive Session back into a public
meeting. Commissioner Shear seconded the motion. Voice Vote: All Ayes; motion carried.

Xl. Any other business which may come before the Board

Xll.  Adjournment
The meeting adjourned at approximately 1:14pm

Audio recording of the complete meeting can be found at
https.//qjairport.com/Board Meetings

Linde Marshall, Board Chairman

ATTEST:

Cameron Reece, Deputy Clerk to the Board

May 20, 2025 Minutes — Page 3



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority
Agenda Item Summary

TOPIC:
PURPOSE:

RECOMMENDATION:

SUMMARY:

REVIEWED BY:
FISCAL IMPACT:
ATTACHMENTS:

STAFF CONTACT:

First Amendment to Airport Facilities Lease and Concession Agreement
Information [] Guidance O Decision

Approve the First Amendment to the Tailwind GJT, LLC lease and concession
agreement and authorize the CEO to sign the amendment.

Improvements to the pre-security concession offering have been made to improve
the guest experience, consolidate concession staffing to the post-security concession
spaces, and clear space for future expansion of the baggage makeup carousels. This
first amendment to the current Tailwind GJT, LLC lease and concession agreement
memorializes those changes in an effort to keep the lease reflective of the concession
operation at the Airport.

In the existing lease with Tailwind GJT, LLC (Tailwind), Exhibit B identifies hours of
operation for a pre-security coffee shop which is to be staffed from 8am until the last
scheduled departure of the day. The pre-security coffee shop has been difficult to staff
and keep open during the target operating hours, has limited transactions and
revenue generated, is in a non-central location, and will need to relocated to
accommodate expansion of the baggage area.

Authority staff recognize the importance of having pre-security food and beverage
options and have been working with Tailwind to identify a better alternative. Tailwind
proposed replacing the existing coffee shop with a self-serve coffee and fresh-food
“smart” vending machine which meets the Authority’s objective to maintain pre-
security food options and will operate more efficiently for Tailwind and customers.
The vending has been installed adjacent to the central staircase on level 1 of the
terminal, near the rental car counters and the meeter/greeter seating area.

The change in square footage has no impact on the revenue to the airport since this
is a revenue sharing agreement (i.e., the Authority receives a percentage of gross
revenue rather than traditional rent). The proposed amendment modifies the
description of concessions offered in 2.1.1 to include vending; adds Section 3.3.3 to
provide guidelines and requirements specific to the vending operation; adjusts Exhibit
A to reflect the new location; and updates Exhibit B, Hours of Operation to remove
the pre-security coffee shop.

CEO and Legal Counsel
Potential change in revenue share from Tailwind, but will be nominal
e First Amendment to the Airport Facilities Lease and Concession Agreement
with Tailwind GJT, LLC
e Revised Exhibit A —First Floor Pre-Security Location
e Current Tailwind Agreement
Sarah Menge
smenge@gjairport.com
Office: 970-248-8584




First Amendment to
Amended and Restated Airport Facilities Lease and Concession Agreement

This First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Airport Facilities Lease and Concession
Agreement by and between the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority (“Lessor”) and
Tailwind GJT, LLC (“Lessee”) shall be effective upon execution by the Parties and commence as
of June 1, 2025.

Recitals

Whereas the Parties entered into the Amended and Restated Airport Facilities Lease and
Congession Agreement (“Lease™), effective on May 1, 2022, for a primary term of ten (10) years;
Whereas the Parties wish for Lessee to substitute the current Pre-Security Coffee Shop
for one or more vending machines to be located in the pre-security baggage claim area; and

Whereas the Parties agree to amend the Lease to explicitly permit vending on a non-
exclusive basis.

Now therefore, in consideration of the promises, conditions, and agreements herein
contdined, Lessor and Lessee agree as follows:

Agreement

Section 1. The first sentence of Section 2.1.1 of the Lease is deleted and replaced in its entirety
as follows:

2.1.1 For purposes of this Lease, food and beverage concessions shall include sit-down,
counter service, carry-out/take-away, food delivery and vending service within the Terminal.
Food and beverage concessions include the sale of beer, wine, spirits and mixed drinks for on-
site consumption, provided Lessee has secured the appropriate liquor license from the authorized
regulatory agency and maintains liquor liability insurance as part of, or in addition to, the
commercial general liability insurance required hereunder. Convenience retail shall include the
retail sale, including vending or automated retail, of merchandise including, for example and
without limitation, newspapers, magazines, books, bottled water and other bottled and canned
beverages, candy, pre-packaged snacks and similar food items, and souvenirs.

Section 2. In Section 2.3, the last sentence shall be replaced in its entirety as follows:

Lessor grants Lessee use of the following space in the Terminal: exclusive use of the
space identified in the attached Exhibit A, consisting of approximately 2,642.5 square feet.

The remaining sentences of Section 2.3 shall remain in full force and effect.

|
Section 3. In Section 3.1.3, the phrase “Food, beverage and retail” shall be replaced with “Food,
beverage, retail and vending” in each of the three instances the phrase appears.

S




Section 4. New Section 3.3.3 shall be added to read as follows:

3.3.3 Vending or Automated Retail

3.3.3.1 Lessee shall operate vending or automated retail upon the Premises to include

canned or bottled beverages, snacks, pre-packaged foods and coffee. Vending machines provided

by Le

ssee shall be equipped to accept cashless payment and further shall be equipped with a

meteting system to include an internal non-resettable sales meter. Lessee shall seek to use the

latest

vending technology to improve the customer experience.

3.3.3.2 Lessee shall service and restock the vending machine(s) at sufficient intervals to

ensure the machine(s) is/are operating and full and the products are fresh. Upon notification by
an Authority representative that a machine is not functioning propetly or is empty or low in

inven
notifi

Secti

tory, the machine must be serviced or restocked within twenty-four (24) hours of the
cation. Lessee must maintain an agreed upon minimum stock of product at all times.

on 5. In Exhibit A, the second graphic, depicting the Premises located in the pre-security

baggage claim area, shall be replaced with the graphic attached hereto. The two remaining

graph

Secti
entire

MST

ics constituting Exhibit A shall remain in effect.

on 6. In Exhibit B, Hours of Operation, the following sentence shall be deleted in its
ty:

Food & Beverage Space (Pre-Security Coffee Shop): Eight o’clock in the morning (8am
until the last scheduled flight departure of the day.

Section 7. All other terms and conditions of the Lease shall remain unchanged and in full force
and effect.

GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT

AUTHORITY

By: Date:

Angela Padalecki, Chief Executive Officer

TAILWIND GJT,LLC

/rj,%%” Date: 6//7/25/

pergting Officer




NQ -—)'

T
- Nd

Y
)

dn

4%




NG

r Nd

-
dl




AMENDED AND RESTATED AIRPORT FACILITIES LEASE AND CONCESSION AGREEMENT

Grand Junction Regional Airport

Grand Junction, Colorado

Lessee: Tailwind GJT, LLC



AMENDED AND RESTATED AIRPORT FACILITIES LEASE AND CONCESSION AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED AIRPORT FACILITIES LEASE AND CONCESSION
AGREEMENT, hereinafter “Lease”, is made as of May 5, 2022, by and between the Grand
Junction Regional Airport Authority, a political subdivision of the State of Colorado, hereinafter
referred to as “Lessor”, and Tailwind GJT, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, hereinafter
referred to as “Lessee”:

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Lessor is the owner and operator of the Grand Junction Regional Airport,
located in the City of Grand Junction, Mesa County, Colorado (the “Airport”); and

WHEREAS, the provision of high quality and reasonably priced food, beverages, and
retail items at the Airport are desirable for the proper accommodation of passengers arriving at
and/or departing from the Airport; and

WHEREAS, Lessor desires to provide high quality and reasonably priced food, beverages,
and retail items available at the Airport, and Lessee is qualified, ready, willing, and able to offer
and perform such products and related services under the terms of this Lease.

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the fees, covenants, and agreements
contained herein, as well as for other good and valuable consideration, it is agreed and
understood between Lessor and Lessee:

. DEFINITIONS:

As used in this Lease, the defined words and terms shall have the following
meanings:

1.1 “Airport” is the Grand Junction Regional Airport located in the City of Grand
Junction, Mesa County, Colorado.

1.2 “Effective Date” is May 1, 2022.

1.3 “Executive Director” means the person appointed by Lessor as the Executive
Director of the Airport, or their designee(s).

14 “Terminal” is the Passenger Terminal Building at the Airport.
15 “Lease” is this Amended and Restated Airport Facilities Lease and Concession
Agreement.



1.6 “Premises” consists of exclusive-use space leased to Lessee as described in
subsection 2.3.

1.7 “Gross Revenue” is the entire amount of the actual sales price, whether wholly
or partly for cash or on credit, of all sales of merchandise and services and all
other receipts of all business conducted on or from the Airport, including all
orders taken in or from the Premises, although said orders may be filled
elsewhere, catering performed in whole or in part on the Airport, whether or not
from the Premises, and sales by any authorized sub-lessee, Lessee in or from the
Premises, and all without credit to Lessee for uncollected or uncollectable credit
accounts. Each sale upon credit shall be treated as a sale for the full price in the
month during which such sale shall be made, irrespective of the time when
Lessee shall receive payment, whether full or partial, from its customer. There
shall be excluded from Gross Revenue:

1.7.1 Anysums collected and paid out for any sales tax or other tax based on the
sale of merchandise and required by law, whether now or hereafter in force,
to be paid by Lessee or collected from its customers, to the extent that such
taxes have been added to and included in the gross sales price; and

1.7.2 The amount of any cash or credit refund made upon any sale where the
merchandise sold, or some part thereof, is thereafter returned by a
purchaser and accepted by Lessee.

1.8 “Contract Year” means the 365-day periods (366 days for any leap years),
commencing on May 1 and ending on April 30, at 11:59 p.m.

Il USE OF AIRPORT FACILITIES

2.1 Operational Rights. Lessor hereby grants to Lessee, subject to all the terms,
covenants and conditions of this Lease, the right, license and privilege, to the
extent allowed by law, to operate food and beverage and convenience retail
within the Premises (the operation of such food, beverage, and convenience
retail within the Premises to be referred to herein as the “Concession”).




2.11

2.1.2

For purposes of this Lease, food and beverage concessions shall include sit-
down, counter service, carry-out/take-away and food delivery service within
the Terminal. Food and beverage concessions include the sale of beer, wine,
spirits and mixed drinks for on-site consumption, provided Lessee has
secured the appropriate liquor license from the authorized regulatory agency
and maintains liquor liability insurance as part of, or in addition to, the
commercial general liability insurance required hereunder. Convenience
retail shall include the retail sale of merchandise including, for example and
without limitation, newspapers, magazines, books, bottled water and other
bottled and canned beverages, candy, pre-packaged snacks and similar food
items, and souvenirs.

Lessee shall sell items consistent with those sold by Lessee at other airports
of similar size and passenger demographics. Products sold should be
sufficiently varied such that the range of needs of the traveling public are
reasonably satisfied. The Executive Director reserves the right to approve
items sold, and to engage in commercially reasonable discussions with
Lessee to make modifications to the product offerings.

2.2 Prohibited Uses.

221

2.2.2

223

224

2.2.5

Lessee shall have no right to perform any service or offer for sale any goods
or services, or engage in any other business or commercial activity on the
Airport that is not specifically granted under this Lease.

Lessee shall neither use nor occupy the Premises or any part thereof for any
unlawful or hazardous business purposes, nor operate or conduct its
business in a manner constituting a public or private nuisance.

Lessee shall not offer for sale within the Premises any tobacco or tobacco
products, including cigarettes, cigars, smokeless tobacco, and e-cigarettes
and associated products, and shall not advertise any such products within
the Premises.

Lessee shall not sell lottery tickets within the Premises, or otherwise
participate in any legal or illegal gambling or gaming.

Lessee shall not serve as a marijuana dispensary or offer for sale within the
Premises any marijuana products, notwithstanding any authority under the
laws of the State of Colorado authorizing the sale of marijuana for medicinal
or recreational use.



2.3 Terminal Building Space and Equipment. Lessor shall deliver the Premises,
specified herein in accordance with Exhibit A, and so long as they are in
accordance with Exhibit A, Lessee shall accept the Premises and fixtures "as is"
and “with all faults.” Lessor has no obligation to alter or improve the same,
except as expressly provided herein. Lessor grants Lessee use of the following
space in the Terminal: exclusive use of the space identified in the attached
Exhibit A, consisting of approximately 2,785 square feet.

2.4 No Exclusive Right. Nothing in this Lease shall be construed as granting Lessee
any exclusive right to operate a food and beverage and/or retail concession at
the Airport or in the Terminal. Lessor retains the right to enter into leases
and/or agreements with others for the provision of food, beverage, and retail
items or vending services in areas other than those set aside herein for Lessee's
operations.

2.5 Right of Ingress and Egress. Lessee shall have at all times the full and free right of
ingress to and egress from the Premises and facilities referred to herein for
Lessee, its employees, customers, guests and other invitees, subject to security
requirements and hours of operation of the security screening checkpoint.

2.6 Public Address and Paging System. Lessee and others similarly authorized shall
have the right to use the public address and paging system in the Terminal for
paging, and similar purposes, subject to reasonable policies established by the
Executive Director.

2.7 Limitation on Uses. Lessee's uses of the Airport authorized and granted in this
Lease shall be limited to providing services at the Airport expressly described
herein, including a restaurant and retail goods sales concession, and activities
reasonably necessary and related thereto.

OBLIGATIONS OF LESSEE

3.1 Financial Obligations.

3.1.1 In consideration of its operating rights hereunder, Lessee shall pay Lessor
the greater of Percentage Rent, calculated as a percentage of Gross Revenue
received by Lessee, or a Minimum Annual Guarantee (such payment to be
referred to herein as the “Concession Fee”).

3.1.2 The Minimum Annual Guarantee (or “MAG”) shall be one hundred and
twenty thousand dollars (5120,000.00) for the first Contract Year. Thereafter,
the MAG shall be the greater of (i) eighty five percent (85%) of total Rent for



the prior Contract Year, or (ii) one hundred and twenty thousand dollars
(5120,000.00).

3.1.2.1 Should the average number of revenue passengers enplaning at the

Airport during a Contract Year be less than seventy five percent (75%) of
the average number of revenue passengers enplaning at the Airport in
the previous Contract Year, Lessee’s obligation to pay Lessor the MAG for
the Contract Year affected shall be void, and in such case Lessee shall pay
the Lessor the Percentage Rent of Gross Revenues in place of MAG for
the Contract Year affected. Enplaning passenger numbers shall be
determined as reported to the Lessor by the air service carriers, and
recorded by the Lessor on landing fee reports.

3.1.2.2 If, due to construction activities in the Terminal, Lessee is unable to

3.1.3

conduct full operation of its concession, the Parties shall engage in
discussions regarding the potential impacts of such construction activities
on Lessee’s operations, and, in response to the same, the Executive
Director may, in her sole discretion, grant Lessee relief from the MAG set
forth herein.

As used herein, the term "Percentage Rent” means:
Gross sales up to $1,000,000.00:
Food, beverage and retail — 10%
Liguor—12%

Gross sales between $1,000,000.01 and $1,200,000.00:
Food, beverage and retail — 12%
Liquor —14%

Gross sales between $1,200,000.01 and above:
Food, beverage and retail — 14%
Liguor —16%

3.1.4 Lessee shall pay Lessor Percentage Rent by the fifteenth (15%) day of each

3.1.5

month. With each Percentage Rent payment, Lessee shall provide the
Executive Director with an itemized statement showing the amount of Gross
Revenues, as defined herein, Lessee enjoyed during the preceding calendar
month.

Within forty-five (45) days following the close of each Contract Year, Lessee
shall pay to Lessor, the difference between its Minimum Annual Guarantee

for the year then ending, and the Percentage Rent, if the Percentage Rent is
less than the Minimum Annual Guarantee for said annual period.



3.1.6

3.1.7

Lessor reserves the right to meter utilities and charge tenant; however,
utilities for the Premises, including electricity and HVAC, are not currently
separately metered and shall be provided by the Lessor. Lessee shall arrange
for and pay the cost of installation and usage of telephone service, and any
other utilities Lessee desires, other than electricity and HVAC, subject to the
language of this provision.

If Lessor has paid any sum or has incurred any obligation which Lessee had
agreed to pay or reimburse Lessor for, or if Lessor is required or elects to pay
sum(s) or ensure obligation(s) or expense(s) by reason of the failure, neglect
or refusal of Lessee to perform any of the conditions or agreements
contained in the Lease, or as a result of an act or omission of Lessee contrary
to said conditions and agreements, Lessee shall pay Lessor the sum(s) so paid
or the expense(s) so incurred, including all interest, costs, damages and
penalties, and the same may be added to any installment of the fees and
charges thereafter due hereunder.

3.2 Terms and Conditions of Payment.

3.2.1

3.2.2

3.2.3

3.24

All payments should be made in a manner prescribed by Lessor.

Lessee covenants and agrees that all sums Lessee is to pay to Lessor as the
Concession Fee or other charges under this Lease, if not paid within thirty
(30) days of the date when due, may bear interest from the date when due
on the unpaid portion thereof at a rate of fifteen percent (15%) per annum.

Lessee shall accurately record each sale on a point of sale register acceptable
to the Executive Director. Such register shall have a counter visible to the
purchaser. Such register shall be non-resettable and sufficient to supply an
accurate record of all sales, on tape or otherwise, as directed by the
Executive Director. Lessee shall not make any changes in its cash handling
and sales recording systems and equipment without prior written approval
from the Executive Director.

Lessee shall, during the Term, keep on the Premises or at a location made
known to Lessor by Lessee in Mesa County, Colorado, for a period of thirty
(30) consecutive months following the end of each month during the Term,
complete and accurate records of all original sales records and sales slips or
sales checks, cash register tapes and other pertinent original sales records,
which may be examined upon request by the Executive Director.



3.2.5 Lessor reserves the right to conduct audits of Lessee's books of account and
records, which audits may be conducted only upon thirty (30) day's notice to
Lessee during normal weekday business hours. In performing said audits,
Lessor shall be entitled to review, and Lessee shall be obligated to provide to
Lessor, all of the books of account and records that Lessee is obligated to
maintain pursuant to subparagraph 3.2.2, above, as well as such other
documents and files in Lessee's possession, custody or control at the time
Lessor advises concessionaire of its desire to audit Lessee's records, that
Lessor, or its auditor, believe, in their sole discretion, relevant or necessary to
determine the correct amount of Gross Revenues enjoyed by Lessee, and the
correct amount of Percentage Fee owed by Lessee to Lessor, for the Contract
Year in question. Should Lessee fail to maintain the books of account and
records required to be maintained pursuant to subparagraph 3.2.2, above, or
should Lessee fail to permit Lessor or its auditor to review Lessee's books and
records, and other documents and files, as required by this subparagraph,
said default shall be deemed a material breach of this Lease.

3.2.5.1 If any audit shows percentage rentals and other charges that should have
been paid to Lessor by the Lessee pursuant to this Lease were
understated or underpaid for the concession period involved, Lessee
shall, within thirty (30) days' notice of any such deficiency, pay to Lessor
the full amount underpaid, plus one and one-half percent (1.5%) interest
per month on said underpayment from the time said underpayment
should have been paid to the time said underpayment is fully paid. In
addition, if the amount of underpayment is in excess of five percent (5%)
of Gross Revenues, Lessee shall bear the cost of such audit.

3.3 Performance and Operational Standards.

3.3.1 First-Class Concession. Lessee shall furnish goods and services to Airport
passengers, employees and users in a first-class manner, consistent with the
highest quality delivery of goods and services in like settings. Lessee shall
offer prompt and efficient services that are adequate to meet all reasonable
demands thereof at the Airport on a fair, equal and nondiscriminatory basis
to all categories of users and in a manner that will reflect credit upon Lessee
and Lessor. Lessee shall offer quality products and shall equip, organize, put
into service and manage the Premises so as to provide service within an
attractive and pleasant atmosphere. Lessee shall operate and maintain the
Premises in satisfaction of all public health and safety standards and
maintain the highest standards of food safety and cleanliness.



3.3.2 Hours of Operation.

3.3.2.1 Lessee shall operate the Concession(s) three hundred and sixty-five (365)

days a year, at all times reasonably necessary to serve the public, which
in the absence of Lessor's agreement in writing to the contrary shall be,
on each calendar day during the Term.

3.3.2.2 The minimum hours of staffed operation for serving the public shall be as

set forth in Exhibit B, “Hours of Operation”.

3.3.2.3 Lessee may not permanently change the hours of operation without

written application to and the written approval of the Executive Director.
The Executive Director may reasonably require Lessee to change its hours
of operation to reflect changing operational circumstances at the Airport
provided that Lessee is given ten (10) days advance written notice. On a
regular basis, but not less than quarterly, Lessee shall report the planned
hours of operation for each Concession location to the Executive
Director.

3.3.2.4 In the event that (i) scheduled flights are delayed past the normal last

3.4 Pricing.

scheduled departures due to weather or other causes, or (ii) Lessor has
been notified of incoming diversions, Lessee agrees to reasonably
accommodate the needs of the public and employees until such time that
the delayed or diverted flights have departed or have been canceled.

3.4.1 Lessee shall ensure that the prices charged for products and services are

3.4.2

comparable to prices for such products and services at other Airports of
similar size and passenger demographics. The Executive Director reserves the
right to impose commercially reasonable limitations on pricing upon
discussion and agreement with Lessee on the terms of the same.

Lessee shall offer a discount on all merchandise, food and beverages of no
less than ten percent (10%) for all Airport employees, including all holders of
an Airport-issued security badge, and any construction contractors and
tradesmen working within the Terminal.

3.5 Management.

3.5.1 Lessee shall select and appoint, a principal, partner or officer who shall serve

as manager of Lessee's operations at the Airport. Such person must be



3.5.2

3.5.3

vested with full power and authority to accept service of all notices provided
for herein, including those regarding the quality of restaurant and retail
goods, and the appearance, conduct and demeanor of Lessee's agents and
employees. The manager shall ordinarily be available during regular business
hours and shall inform the Executive Director of current telephone/fax
numbers of the local office. A responsible subordinate shall be in charge and
available at all times during the manager's absence.

Lessee’s local manager shall be responsible to monitor and supervise the
Premises each day to ensure that the Premises are operated and maintained
in a safe and secure manner and kept clean and clear of any safety hazards or
unsightly spills and debris and the accumulation of products on the floor
prior to restocking.

Lessee shall be responsible for notifying the Executive Director of any
problem which reduces service levels or sales or in any way impairs Lessee's
operation. Lessor will undertake, in its sole discretion, reasonable efforts to
assist in eliminating such problems.

3.6 Personnel

3.6.1

3.6.2

3.6.3

Lessee shall require its employees (except managerial and supervisory
employees) to wear appropriate uniforms, and all of its employees to wear
badges indicating company trade name and employee's first name. Lessee
shall employ only properly trained, efficient, pleasant, neat, clean and
courteous personnel, each of whom shall be proficient in the duties to be
performed in the operation of the concession. Lessee agrees that it will be
responsible for ensuring that its employees abide by all applicable laws, rules
and regulations. Lessee shall prohibit and restrain its employees, vendors,
and agents from loud, noisy, boisterous or otherwise objectionable behavior.
Upon notice from the Executive Director concerning the conduct or
appearance of any such persons, Lessee shall immediately take all steps
necessary to remove the cause of the objection.

Lessee shall be responsible to train and supervise its employees in the proper
handling of food items and compliance with all applicable public health and
safety codes and standards.

Lessee agrees to provide staff in reasonable numbers adequate to provide a

high level of service and maximize sales but commercially reasonable when
considering, among other things, the number of expected customers.

10



3.6.4

Lessee assumes responsibility to recover any Airport-issued security badge or
similar credential and any keys for Airport doors or locks from personnel that
no longer are employed by Lessee. Lessee shall take all reasonable efforts to
recover credentials and keys from any such employee immediately upon
termination or separation.

Maintenance of Premises. Except as expressly provided to the contrary herein,

Lessee shall be responsible for cleaning and maintaining the Premises and its
equipment, including but not necessarily limited to the following:

3.7.1

Operating and maintaining the Premises, including its floors, and the
furniture, fixtures, and equipment installed therein and thereon, all in good
order, condition and repair, in clean condition and appearance at all times.

3.7.1.1 With respect to furniture owned by Lessee but located outside the

3.7.2

3.7.3

3.7.4

Premises (for example, tables, chairs, and other forms of seating, etc.),
Lessee shall be responsible for the bussing, sanitizing, and general
cleaning and maintenance of such furniture. Lessor shall maintain
responsibility for cleaning and maintaining the floors upon which such
furniture is located.

Establishing an adequate preventative maintenance program for the
Premises which shall be subject to periodic review by the Executive Director.
The program shall include, without limitation, the cleaning of inside
windows, doors inside and outside, and the cleaning and repair of all floors,
interior walls, ceilings, lighting, decor and equipment located on the
Premises, and the routine maintenance of all such equipment. Regardless of
Lessee's compliance with its preventive maintenance program, Lessee shall
clean such surfaces and equipment on the Premises immediately upon being
instructed to do so by the Executive Director or by other governmental
entities or agencies having authority.

Lessee will be responsible for services including but not necessarily limited to
the following: cable television, pest control, plumbing/drain maintenance,
grease traps, hood vents, kitchen appliances and equipment, telephone,
internet, specialty lighting, the relocation of fountain drink CO2 machines,
and security badges.

Lessee will be responsible for any and all maintenance of all drains located
on the Premises in accordance with any and all applicable codes, rules, or
regulations, including, but not limited to, any and all applicable health codes,
rules, or regulations.

11



3.7.5 Onan annual basis, Lessee shall provide Lessor with copies of any (i) health
department inspections, (ii) records for professional cleaning services
provided, and (iii) other safety inspections.

3.8 Improvements to the Premises

3.8.1 Required Capital Investment.

3.8.1.1 Minimum Capital Investment. No later than thirty (30) calendar days after
the Effective Date, Lessee shall provide Lessor with a Minimum Capital
Investment plan to include: (i) a detailed break-down of all capital
expenditures allocated to the Premises, (ii) a detailed break-down of all
projects to be performed on the Premises, and (iii) a reasonably detailed
construction schedule. The Minimum Capital Investment plan shall be
approved by the Executive Director in their sole discretion.

3.8.1.1.1 All design, construction, rehabilitation, remodeling, and
equipment installation associated with the Minimum Capital
Investment (collectively the “Construction”) shall be completed
no later than within seven (7) months of the Effective Date (the
“Completion Date”). The Executive Director, by written notice to
Lessee and in the Executive Director’s sole discretion, may extend
the Completion Date for demonstration of good cause by Lessee.

3.8.1.2 Midterm Refurbishment. During the fifth (5t") year of operations and
prior to any renewal term, Lessee shall undertake a refurbishment of the
Concession(s). Such refurbishment may include, but shall not be limited
to, refinishing, repairs, replacement, redecorating, repainting, and
recarpeting, if applicable, to keep the Concession(s) in first-class
condition. The scope of such refurbishment is subject to prior written
approval by the Executive Director.

3.8.2 Lessee shall provide construction plans, specifications, budgets and
schedules for any and all proposed improvements on the Premises. Such
plans and specifications shall be subject to the Executive Director’s approval.
The Executive Director may reject submissions which are not in accordance
with applicable codes, rules, regulations, ordinances and statutes, and which,
in its judgment, are inadequate or incompatible with Airport conditions or
inconsistent with Airport architectural style and design or with uses not
typically made of public use airports.

12



3.8.2.1 Lessor shall be permitted to attend meetings between Lessee and its

3.8.3

contractors regarding improvements on the Premises. Further, Lessor
shall be provided with a copy of all requests for information from
contractors.

Upon conclusion of any improvements, Lessee shall submit (i) two (2)
complete sets of as-built drawings containing a desperate stamp from
Lessee’s architect/engineer and attested to by Lessee’s architect/engineer
that such submitted drawings constitute true and accurate representations
of the as-built condition of the improvements, and (ii) one (1) complete set in
Computer Aided Design (“CAD”) format which complies with the Lessor’s
then-current CAD standards.

3.8.3.1 These drawings must include any applicable governmental approval or

permit numbers, the capital improvements as constructed or installed by
Lessee on or in the Premises, and shall include the location and details of
installation of all equipment, utility lines, and heating, ventilating, and
air-conditioning ducts and related matters.

3.8.3.2 Lessee shall keep said drawings current by updating the same to reflect

3.84

3.85

3.8.6

3.8.7

any changes or modifications which may be made in or to the Premises
and then submitting such updated drawings to Lessor.

Lessee shall engage licensed and qualified contractors to complete any
improvements on the Premises, and shall be responsible for obtaining all
permits and licenses required for construction of such improvements.

Any and all improvements permanently placed or constructed on the
Premises by Lessee shall, upon termination or sooner expiration of this
Lease, be considered part of the Terminal and shall become the sole property
of Lessor.

Lessee agrees not to permit any mechanics' or materialmen's or any other
lien to be recorded against the Premises or any part or parcel thereof, or the
improvements thereon, by reason of any work or labor performed or
materials furnished by any mechanic or materialman or for any other reason.

In the event any damage or destruction is caused by an act or omission by
Lessee, its subleases, agents or employees, by its improvement, remodel,
repair, or construction of the Premises, Lessee shall reimburse Lessor for its
actual costs incurred in repairing the Premises or any other property of
Lessor.

13



3.9

Insurance.

3.9.1 Lessee shall carry the following minimum insurance coverages:

3.9.1.1 Commercial General Liability Insurance in the minimum amount of Five

Million Dollars ($5,000,000) combined single limit for bodily injury and
property damage per occurrence. Coverage shall include contractual,
broad form property damage, products, personal injury, and completed
operations and contractors protective endorsements.

3.9.1.2 Automobile Liability Insurance, Comprehensive Form, in the minimum

amount of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) combined single limit for
bodily injury and property damage per occurrence for operation of motor
vehicles on the Leased Premises. Coverage shall include all owned, non-
owned and hired automobiles

3.9.1.3 Liquor liability insurance in an amount of not less than One Million

Dollars ($1,000,000) combined single limit.

3.9.1.4 Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance, if

applicable, in accordance with the provisions of Colorado law. The
limit of such insurance coverage shall be in the amount required by state
statute or the Workers’ Compensation Act of Colorado. Workers’
Compensation Insurance shall include occupational disease provisions
covering any obligations of Lessee in accord with the provisions of the
Workers’ Compensation Act of Colorado. Employer's Liability Insurance
shall be held in an amount not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000)
for each accident or occurrence of bodily injury by accident or disease. If
Lessee sublets any service under the contract, Lessee shall require the
subcontractor to provide the same coverage for the subcontractor and
the subcontractor’s employees.

3.9.1.5 Builder’s Risk. During any period of construction or restoration, Builder’s

3.9.2

Risk Insurance (including fire and other perils within the scope of a policy
known as “Causes of Loss — Special Form” or “All Risk” policy) in an
amount not less than the total cost of the construction.

If at any time during the term of this Lease, Lessee shall fail to obtain and
maintain insurance required in subparagraph 3.9.1, Lessor may affect such
insurance by taking out policies in companies satisfactory to Lessor. The
amount of the premium or premiums paid for such insurance by Lessor shall

14



be immediately payable by Lessee to Lessor as additional rent upon receipt
of notice that such premiums have been paid.

3.9.3 The Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority and the Grand Junction

3.10

Regional Airport shall be named as an additional insured under each such
policy or policies of insurance required under this Lease, except for Workers’
Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance, and said policy or policies
shall include the separation of insured’s condition.

Indemnification of Lessor. Lessee agrees to defend, indemnify and hold Lessor

3.11

harmless, which includes defending, indemnifying, and holding harmless Lessor’s
Board members, officers, agents, assigns, and employees, from and against any
and all liabilities, obligations, claims, damages, costs, and expenses, including
attorneys' fees, incurred by or asserted against Lessor, its Board members,
officers, agents, assigns, and employees by any person or entity whatsoever,
resulting from the acts, omissions or conduct of Lessee or its members,
managers, officers, employees, agents, contractors, subcontractors, subtenants,
assigns, guests, invitees, or any third party acting under its direction or control.

Lessee’s Other Obligations. Lessee hereby covenants and agrees, that with

respect to operations authorized under this Lease:

3.11.1 it will charge fair, reasonable and not unjustly discriminatory prices for each

unit or service; provided further, that Lessee may make reasonable and
nondiscriminatory discounts, rebates or other similar price reductions to
volume purchasers;

3.11.2 it will provide and install sufficient additional fixtures, furniture and

equipment, if necessary to meet reasonably anticipated public demand for
services offered;

3.11.3 it will obtain and maintain all necessary certificates, permits and licenses

required for its operations hereunder;

3.11.4 it will display only advertising matter relating to the authorized business of

Lessee at the Airport which is in good taste and which complies with the
standards of Lessor and will obtain the prior approval of the Executive
Director of all advertising material, including the use of brand name products
on its packaging;

3.11.5 it will meet all expenses in connection with the use of the Premises and the

rights and privileges herein granted, including without limitation, taxes,

15



3.11.6

3.11.7

permit fees, license fees and assessments lawfully levied or assessed upon
the Premises or structures and improvements situated thereon, and that it
will secure all such permits and licenses;

it will not interfere with free access and passage in the Terminal generally;
will not interfere with effectiveness of heating or ventilating systems; will not
install unauthorized locks on any door or window, a key to which has not
been provided to the Executive Director; will not permit loitering or sleeping
on the Premises; nor do any act which would invalidate, suspend or increase
the rate of fire, property or liability insurance required by this Lease or
carried by Lessor; and

it will operate at the Airport only under a name or names approved by Lessor
from time to time.

3.12 New Government Regulation. In the event Lessor is required to make additional

direct expenditures in connection with the implementation of any future federal
regulation imposed upon Lessor as a result of Lessee's operation during the term
of this Lease, Lessor may call a conference for the purpose of discussing and
determining methods of compliance and recovery from Lessee and other
affected lessees of costs so incurred, and Lessee agrees to attend and negotiate
in good faith regarding its participation in recovery of such costs.

3.13  Security Requirements.

3.13.1

3.13.2

3.133

Lessee shall provide approved escort for vendor employees, contractors and
delivery personnel requiring access to the sterile area of the Terminal.

Lessee shall make all necessary future improvements to Lessee’s Premises to
ensure adequate security, and separation from areas where security
measures are carried out under the Lessor's Airport Security Program (the
"ASP"), any other Tenant Security Programs, and any exclusive areas in which
an airline has assumed responsibility for specified security measures by
amendment to the ASP.

Lessee shall comply with any applicable provisions of the Lessor's ASP,
Security Directives issued by the TSA, and any applicable rules and
regulations which may be promulgated by the TSA from time to time, which
have been provided to Lessee ("Security Requirements" hereinafter). The
Lessor shall provide Lessee with amended or updated Security Requirements
when promulgated, and Lessee shall acknowledge receipt pursuant to
paragraph 3.13.7 below. Lessee shall submit to inspections by the TSA, the

16



3.13.4

3.13.5

3.13.6

3.13.7

Lessor, Airport Management, and/or their security screening contractor, to
ensure compliance, with Security Requirements.

Any violation of conformance with Security Requirements will be
documented in writing and a copy of the violation notice provided to the
Lessee's Manager in writing. Lessee will investigate the violation and provide
a written response and/or corrective action within twenty-four (24) hours. A
copy of the response will be provided to the Lessor.

To the extent that any action or omission by Lessee, its officers or
employees, to follow Security Requirements results in the Lessor being fined,
including any type of monetary assessment or penalty (collectively, a "Fine"),
by the TSA or any other governmental entity having jurisdiction, Lessee shall
promptly reimburse the Lessor for any such Fine, together with the
reasonable costs incurred by the Lessor in defending against the proceeding
or actions which has resulted in the Fine, including any attorney fees
expended by Lessor. The Lessor shall notify Lessee if any such Fine has been
proposed, and give Lessee the opportunity to join in the defense of any such
proceeding. Lessee shall promptly pay any Fine levied directly against Lessee
by TSA or any other governmental entity having jurisdiction, as soon as any
protest or appeal process have run or the time for taking them has expired.

Lessee acknowledges that all products delivered and transported to the
sterile portion of the Terminal, are subject to inspection by Security
Screeners, regardless of by whom they are employed. All Lessee employees,
officers and escorted visitors in the sterile area of the Terminal are subject to
search, and may be required to provide appropriate credentials.

Lessee acknowledges that all Security Requirements which are shown or
provided to it under paragraph 3.13.3 above, are sensitive security
information ("SSI") in accordance with 49 CFR Parts 15 and 1520, that Lessee
and any involved persons are required to protect the same from
unauthorized disclosure, and that civil penalties may be imposed for failure
to do so. The Lessee's general manager (the "Manager") is the designated
primary point of contact for receiving any SSI which Lessee receives. The
Manager will acknowledge receipt of SSI to the Lessor, and confirm any
actions taken by Lessee as required by the SSI. All SSI materials shall be
stored in secured areas, or locked in secured cabinets, within the Lessee's
Premises at the Airport. Materials marked as containing SSI shall be disposed
of by shredding.

17



V.

V.

3.14

Performance Deposit.

3.14.1 Lessee must post with Lessor, and Lessor must thereafter continuously

maintain for the entire concession Term, a Performance Deposit in an
amount equal to ten thousand dollars ($10,000.00) to cover Lessee’s
performance of all of its obligations under this Lease for the entire
concession term. As used in this paragraph, the term Performance Deposit
shall mean a performance bond, irrevocable letter of credit, or cash deposit.
Lessee shall be responsible for paying all required fees, premiums or other
costs associated with obtaining and maintaining the Performance Deposit. In
the event Lessee defaults in any of its monetary obligations to the Lessor, the
Lessor shall be entitled to collect any and all damages or costs it incurs from
the Performance Deposit provided, and if any deficiency remains, Lessor may
initiate legal proceedings to recover any remaining damages from Lessee.
The Performance Deposit will be returned, less any default payments, to
Lessee at the expiration of the Lease.

OBLIGATIONS OF LESSOR

Quiet Enjoyment. Lessor covenants that on paying the rent and performing the

covenants herein contained, Lessee shall peacefully and quietly have, hold and
enjoy the rights granted herein for the agreed term.

Maintenance and Utilities.

42.1

4.2.2

TERM

Except as provided in Section 3.7 above, during the term of this Lease, Lessor
shall maintain and keep in good repair so much of the Terminal Building, not
identified in paragraph 2.3 above, as is not under the exclusive control of
individual lessees, in accordance with applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Subject to the terms, conditions, and language of Section 3.7, above, the
Lessor shall provide electricity and HVAC to the Premises, so long as Lessee
uses no more than is customary for the type of business operated.

Term. Subject to earlier termination as hereinafter provided, the primary term
of this Lease shall be for ten (10) years, commencing on the date first set forth
above (the “Effective Date”) and ending on the tenth anniversary thereof, with
an option to extend the term of the Lease by one (1) additional five (5) year term
at the sole discretion of the Lessor.

18



5.2 Holding Over. Lessor may permit Lessee to hold over beyond the expiration of
this Lease in order for Lessor to conclude a solicitation process or to prepare for
a follow-on concession tenancy either with Lessee or another business or
businesses selected by Lessor. Lessor will notify Lessee in writing of Lessor’s offer
of a holdover tenancy. Within thirty (30) days of receipt of Lessor’s notice,
Lessee shall notify Lessor in writing as to Lessee’s acceptance of said holdover
tenancy. If Lessee fails to so notify Lessor in writing within said thirty-day period,
Lessee shall be deemed to have rejected Lessor’s offer of holdover tenancy.

5.2.1 If Lessor permits Lessee to holdover, such a holding over shall not be deemed
a renewal or extension of this Lease but shall create a month-to-month
tenancy on the same terms and conditions of this Lease in effect immediately
prior to the commencement of the holding over. Lessor may terminate the
holdover upon thirty (30) days’ written notice to Lessee. Other than as
specified in this section, Lessee may not otherwise remain on the Premises
for any reason beyond expiration of the Term.

5.3  Terminal Remodel and Reconfiguration. The parties acknowledge that Lessor
operates the Airport to serve the public interest. In the event Lessor determines
that the public interest requires modification of the Terminal, to eliminate all or
a substantial part of the Premises, or constructs a substitute Terminal building
during the term of this Lease, then:

5.3.1 To the extent reasonably requested by the Lessor, Lessee agrees to consult
and cooperate in the design of substitute Premises in such a remodeled
Terminal; and

5.3.2 At the Lessor’s option, and providing that any substitute Premises in a
remodeled Terminal building are not less in square footage than the current
Premises, this Lease shall apply to such substitute Premises, and Lessee
agrees to conduct its operations therein pursuant to this Lease.

VI. TERMINATION, SURRENDER AND DAMAGES

6.1  Termination by Lessee. Lessee shall have the right, upon written notice to
Lessor, to terminate the Lease upon the happening of one or more of the
following events if said event or events shall then be continuing:

6.1.1 The issuance by any court of competent jurisdiction of any injunction, order
or decree which remains in force for a period of at least ninety (90) days,
preventing or restraining the use by Lessee of all or any substantial part of
the Premises, or preventing or restraining the use of the Airport for normal

19



6.1.2

6.1.3

6.1.4

airport purposes or the use of any part thereof which may be used by Lessee
and which is necessary for Lessee's operations on the Airport.

If Lessor shall default in fulfilling any of the terms, covenants or conditions to
be fulfilled by it under this Lease and shall fail to cure said default within
thirty (30) days following receipt of written demand from Lessee to do so.

If all or a material part of the Airport or Airport facilities shall be destroyed by
fire, explosion, earthquake, other casualty, or acts of God or a public enemy.

If the United States Government or any of its agencies shall occupy the
Airport or any substantial part thereof to such an extent as to interfere
materially with Lessee's operation for a period of thirty (30) consecutive days
or more.

Termination by Lessor. Lessor need not terminate this Lease upon default but, at

its discretion and without terminating the Lease, may seek specific performance
or damages incurred as a result of Lessee's default. However, Lessor shall also
have the right to terminate this Lease in the event of any of the following acts of
default:

6.2.1

6.2.2

6.2.3

6.2.4

Failure by Lessee to make any payment due hereunder within thirty (30)
calendar days after notice of the overdue payment is sent to Lessee, in which
case, Lessor may, at its option, in addition to other remedies and with or
without terminating this Lease, take possession of so much of Lessee's
personal property as is reasonably necessary to secure payments of the
amounts due and unpaid.

Failure by Lessee to conduct business at the Airport for a period of five (5)
consecutive days without reasonable cause including, but not limited to
strikes, work stoppage and equipment failures.

Default in the performance of any covenant or agreement in this Lease
required to be performed by Lessee, other than the payment of money or
the occurrence of the events described in this paragraph, and the failure of
Lessee to remedy such default for a period of thirty (30) days after receipt
from Lessor of written notice to remedy the same.

Failure to maintain adequate records and accounts reflecting its business and
gross receipts.

20



6.2.5

6.2.6

6.2.7

6.2.8

6.2.9

6.2.10

6.2.11

6.2.12

An act occurs which results in the suspension or revocation of any right,
power, license, permit or authority necessary for the conduct and operation
of the business authorized herein for a period of more than fifteen (15) days.

The interest of Lessee under this Lease is transferred, passes to or devolves
upon, by operation of law or otherwise, any other person, firm or
corporation without the written consent of Lessor.

Lessee becomes, without the prior written approval of Lessor, a successor or
merged corporation in a merger, a constituent corporation in a consolidation
or a corporation in dissolution.

An attachment or execution is levied, a receiver is appointed, or any other
process of any court of competent jurisdiction is executed, which is not
vacated, dismissed or set aside within a period of thirty (30) days, and which
does, or as a direct consequence of such process will, interfere with Lessee's
use of the Premises or with its operations under this Lease.

Lessee becomes insolvent, or takes the benefit of any present or future
insolvency statute, or makes a general assignment for the benefit of
creditors, or files a voluntary petition in bankruptcy, or a petition or answer
seeking an arrangement for its reorganization, or the readjustment of its
indebtedness under the federal bankruptcy laws or under any other law or
statute of the United States or of any state, or consents to the appointment
of a receiver, trustee or liquidator of all or substantially all of its property or
its property located within the Premises.

Service ceases or deteriorates for any period which, in the opinion of Lessor,
materially and adversely affects the operation of service required to be
performed by Lessee under this Lease, including events described in the
paragraph above.

Any lien is filed against the Premises because of any act or omission of Lessee
and such lien is not removed, enjoined or a bond for satisfaction of such lien
is not posted within thirty (30) days.

Lessee voluntarily abandons, deserts, vacates or discontinues its operation of
the business herein authorized, including by acts described in the paragraph
above. Upon any such default, Lessor shall have any and all remedies
available to it in law or equity, which remedies are cumulative and may be
exercised by Lessor in any order.

21



Surrender of Possession. Lessee shall, on the expiration date of the Term, or
upon the earlier termination hereof, peaceably surrender possession of the
Premises, free and clear of all liens and encumbrances, other than those, if any,
permitted under this Lease or otherwise created or consented to by Lessor. No
more than thirty (30) days after the expiration of the Term, Lessee shall remove
any and all of Lessee’s tangible movable personal property, except those
specifically identified by Lessor to be retained, and will return the Premises in
“broom clean” condition, capable to be relet by Lessor without significant repair,
excepting only reasonable wear and tear. All such costs of removal and
restoration shall be borne by Lessee, without contribution by Lessor.

Force Majeure. Neither the Lessor nor Lessee shall be deemed in violation of this
Lease if it is prevented from performing any of its obligations hereunder by
reason of strikes, boycotts, labor disputes, embargoes, shortage of aircraft or
fuel or tires as the direct result of governmental decree, acts of God, acts of the
public enemy, acts of superior governmental authority, weather condition, riots,
rebellion, sabotage or any other circumstances for which it is not responsible
and which is not under its control.

Damage or Destruction of Premises.

6.5.1 Inthe event the Premises are substantially destroyed for any reason, this

Lease shall terminate without further liability to Lessor, other than refund of
any prepaid rent, unless Lessor elects, within thirty (30) days thereof, to
restore or rebuild the Premises, in which case this Lease will be suspended
for a period of up to one-hundred eighty (180) days while the Premises are
being restored.

6.5.2 Inthe event that the Terminal is damaged or remodeled in such a manner

that the restaurant and/or retail service area must be temporarily removed,
Lessee may, subject to Lessor approval, relocate the restaurant and/or retail
service area or may remove the same temporarily during such repair or
remodeling.

6.5.3 Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, in the event any damage or

destruction is caused by an act or omission by Lessee, its subleases, agents or
employees, Lessee shall reimburse Lessor for its actual costs incurred in
repairing the Premises. Nothing in this Lease shall be construed as a waiver
of the right of Lessor to recover any and all damages from Lessee arising out
of the fault or negligence of Lessee.

22



VILI. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING

7.1 Assignment and Subletting. Lessee shall not at any time assign or sublet their

rights under this Lease or any part thereof without the written consent of Lessor.
No such assignment or subletting shall release Lessee from its obligations to pay
any and all of the rentals and charges and to otherwise perform Lessee's
obligations under this Lease.

7.2 Successors to Lessor. The rights and obligations of Lessor under this Lease may

be assigned by Lessor, at the option of Lessor, without the necessity for the
concurrence of the Lessee in any such assignment.

VIll.  COMPLIANCE WITH OTHER AGREEMENTS, LAWS, AND REGULATIONS

8.1 Compliance with Laws and Regulations.

8.1.1

8.1.2

8.1.3

Lessee shall comply with statutes, laws, ordinances, orders, judgments,
decrees, regulations, directions and requirements (hereinafter collectively
referred to as “Laws”) of federal, state and local governmental authorities
which are applicable to the Premises and the Airport or to any adjoining
public ways, or to the manner of use or the condition of the Premises and the
Airport or of adjoining public ways; provided that nothing herein contained
shall be construed as estopping or preventing Lessee from contesting in good
faith the validity or applicability to the operations of Lessee hereunder of any
Laws, including without limitation the exhaustion of all appeal rights.

Lessee’s use of the Airport and the Premises shall be subject to the Airport
Rules and Regulations and such other similar rules and directives of the
Executive Director, each as may be adopted and amended from time to time.

Lessee shall comply with all applicable health, safety and sanitary laws,
regulations and inspections concerning its operations. Lessee shall keep
applicable licenses and permits displayed on the Premises, as may be
required by law.

8.1.3.1 Lessee shall keep on file with Lessor a copy of its current liquor license.

Lessor reserves the right to impose limitations upon the areas in which
liguor may be sold.

23



8.2

Lease Subordinate.

8.2.1 Lessor shall be free, in the future, to renegotiate the Lease on such terms and

conditions as it deems appropriate and in the public interest, without any
consent or approval of Lessee or any other person, and Lessee shall be bound
by the terms of such renegotiated agreement.

8.2.2 This Lease shall be subordinate to any existing or future agreement between

Lessor and the United States relative to the operation or maintenance of the
Airport, the execution of which has been or may be required as a condition
to the expenditure of federal funds for development of the Airport.

Inspection by Lessor. Lessor and/or the Executive Director, through its

authorized employees and agents, shall have the right at all reasonable times to
enter upon the Premises to inspect, to observe the performance by Lessee of its
obligations hereunder, and to do any act which Lessor may be obligated to do or
have the right to do under this Lease, or under any other agreement to which
Lessor is a party or under applicable law.

Service Entrances. Lessor shall have no obligation to provide any special service
entrances, including those for utilities, other than those which presently exist in
the Terminal. In the event Lessee requires any additional or special service
entrances, the same shall be installed at the cost and expense of Lessee.

Airport Concession Disadvantaged Business Enterprises.

8.5.1 This Lease concerns an airport concession and therefore is subject to the

requirements of 49 C.F.R. Part 23 (Participation of Disadvantaged Business
Enterprise in Airport Concessions) (“Part 23”) and, by reference in Part 23,
certain requirements of 49 C.F.R. Part 26 (Participation by Disadvantaged
Business Enterprises in Department of Transportation Financial Assistance
Programs). This Lease further is subject to the requirements of the
Authority’s ACDBE Program, as may be adopted and amended by Lessor from
time to time.

8.5.2 The terms used in this section shall have the meaning set forth in Part 23.

For purposes of this Agreement, “ACDBE” shall mean a business that meets
the requirements set forth in 49 C.F.R. Section 23.3.

8.5.3 Lessee shall make good faith efforts to ensure participation of certified

ACDBEs in furtherance of the Authority’s ACDBE Program goal.

24



8.6

8.7

8.5.4

8.5.5

8.5.6

Lessee shall make good faith efforts to replace any ACDBE subtenant,
subcontractor, joint venture partner or vendor that is terminated, withdraws,
or otherwise ceases to participate in the concession activity with another
ACDBE to participate at the same or similar level. The Parties agree and
acknowledge that, to the extent this Lease constitutes a long-term, exclusive
agreement pursuant to 49 C.F.R. Section 23.75, Lessee shall comply with
requirements of Section 23.75 and the applicable policies of the Federal
Aviation Administration in replacing any ACDBE subtenant, subcontractor,
joint venture partner or vendor.

Lessee shall provide to Lessor an ACDBE participation report, in a form
determined by Lessor, within sixty (60) days of written request therefor by
Lessor.

Failure by Lessee to carry out the requirements of this section will constitute
a material breach of this Lease and may result in termination.

Americans with Disabilities Act.

8.6.1

8.6.2

Lessee agrees that it shall develop, manage, use, and occupy the Premises in
accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. Section 12101
et seq. (hereafter collectively the "ADA"), including, without limitation,
modifying the Lessee's policies, practices, and procedures, and providing
auxiliary aids and services to disabled persons.

Lessee acknowledges that, pursuant to the ADA, programs, services, and
other activities provided by a public entity, whether directly or through a
contractor, must be accessible to disabled persons. Lessee shall provide the
services specified in this Lease in a manner that complies with the ADA and
all other applicable federal, state, or county disability rights legislation. The
Lessee agrees not to discriminate against disabled persons in the provision of
services, benefits, or activities provided under this Lease and further agrees
that any violation of this prohibition on the part of the Lessee shall constitute
a material breach of this Lease.

Bankruptcy. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, in the event that a
petition for relief under the United States Bankruptcy Code or under any similar
or successor federal, state, or local statute is filed by or against the Lessee (a
“Filing”):

8.7.1 Lessee shall give the Lessor immediate written notice of the Filing; Lessee will

promptly confirm the outstanding amount of any obligations hereunder due

25



8.7.2

8.7.3

8.7.4

8.7.5

8.7.6

the Lessor as of the date of Filing; and Lessee will fully and timely perform all
obligations arising hereunder commencing as of the date of the Filing.

Thereafter, Lessee will promptly determine whether it intends to assume or
reject the unexpired term of this Lease, if any, and shall promptly advise the
Lessor of such determination; and Lessee will not seek to delay the date by
which it will make the determination under this subparagraph and obtain any
necessary third-party authorization (including court approval) therefore
beyond the 60t day following the date of the Filing without the prior express
consent of the Lessor.

If Lessee determines that it wishes to assume this Lease, the Lessee will cure
all defaults, compensate the Lessor for all damages incurred as a result of
such defaults, provide the Lessor with adequate assurances of future
performance, and comply with any and all other statutory or legal
requirements prior to the effective date of such assumption.

If Lessee determines that it wishes to assume this Lease and assign it to a
third-party, Lessee will give the Lessor not less than 60 days notice of such
intention, provide to the Lessor all pertinent information with respect to the
proposed assignee concurrently with the notice, cure all defaults,
compensate the Lessor for all damages incurred as a result of such defaults,
provide the Lessor with adequate assurances of future performance through
the proposed assignee and comply with any and all other statutory or legal
requirements prior to the effective date of such assumption and assignment.

If Lessee wishes to reject the unexpired term of the Lease, if any, Lessee will
not seek to have the effective date of such rejection determined to be a date
earlier than the date on which Lessee shall return control and possession of
the Preferential Premises to the Lessor in the condition and on the terms set
forth herein relevant to the redelivery of possession to the Lessor, and shall
fully and timely pay all rent and other charges through the date of such
rejection.

Lessee shall be deemed to have expressly consented to the modification of
the stays of proceedings in any Filing in the event of any post-Filing default
by the Lessee under the terms of this Lease for the purpose of allowing the
Lessor to exercise any default rights or remedies arising from such default.

Reservation of Lessor Rights. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary,

the Lessor reserves the following rights:

26



IX.

3.1

8.8.1

8.8.2

8.8.3

8.8.4

8.8.5

For the use and benefit of the public, the right of flight for the passage of
aircraft in the air space above the surface of the Premises, together with the
right to cause in that air space such noise as may be inherent in the
operation of aircraft utilizing the Airport.

During time of war or national emergency, the right to lease the Airport or
any part thereof, including the Premises or any part thereof, to the United
States Government for military purposes, and, in the event of such lease to
the United States for military purposes, the provisions of this Lease shall be
suspended insofar as such provisions may be inconsistent with the provisions
of the lease to the United States.

The right to direct all activities of Lessee at the Airport in the event of an
emergency.

The right to grant other leases, licenses, permits or rights to occupancy or
use of the Airport so long as such other grants do not unreasonably interfere
with or impair Lessee's rights hereunder or Lessee's occupancy or use of the
Premises, and the right to direct changes in the way Lessee conducts its
Airport operations in the event that the Lessor determines, in the exercise of
its reasonable judgment, that one or more aspects of Lessee's method of
operation is unreasonably interfering with the lawful and proper occupancy
or use by others of the Airport. Provided, that this reserved right is not
intended to allow the Lessor to deny Lessee the basic right to use the
Premises for any of the uses permitted hereunder.

The right to further develop and/or improve the Airport as the Lessor deems
appropriate, without interference or hindrance by Lessee, and the Lessor
shall have no liability hereunder to Lessee by reason of any interruption to its
operations on the Premises occasioned by such development and/or
improvement of the Airport; provided, that if Lessee shall be unable to
conduct reasonably normal business operations on the Premises by reason of
any such development and/or improvement of the Airport, then rent and
other fees payable by Lessee hereunder shall be subject to an equitable
adjustment during the period of such interruption.

NON-DISCRIMINATION

Lessee agrees to comply with pertinent statutes, Executive Orders and such rules
as are promulgated to ensure that no person shall, on the grounds of race,
creed, color, national origin, sex, age, or disability be excluded from participating
in any activity conducted with or benefiting from Federal assistance. If Lessee

27



transfers its obligation to another, the transferee is obligated in the same
manner as Lessee. This provision obligates Lessee for the period during which
the Premises is used or possessed by Lessee and the Airport remains obligated to
the FAA. This provision is in addition to that required by Title VI of the Civil Rights
Act of 1964.

During the performance of this Lease, Lessee for itself, its assignees, and
successors in interest, agrees to comply with the following non-discrimination
statutes and authorities:

9.2.1 Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 USC § 2000d et seq., 78 stat. 252)
(prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin);

9.2.2 49 CFR part 21 (Non-discrimination in Federally-assisted programs of the
Department of Transportation—Effectuation of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act
of 1964);

9.2.3 The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act
of 1970, (42 USC § 4601) (prohibits unfair treatment of persons displaced or
whose property has been acquired because of Federal or Federal-aid
programs and projects);

9.2.4 Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 USC § 794 et seq.), as
amended (prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability); and 49 CFR part
27;

9.2.5 The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended (42 USC § 6101 et seq.)
(prohibits discrimination on the basis of age);

9.2.6 Airport and Airway Improvement Act of 1982 (49 USC § 471, Section 47123),
as amended (prohibits discrimination based on race, creed, color, national
origin, or sex);

9.2.7 The Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987 (PL 100-209) (broadened the scope,
coverage and applicability of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age
Discrimination Act of 1975 and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973,
by expanding the definition of the terms “programs or activities” to include
all of the programs or activities of the Federal-aid recipients, sub-recipients
and contractors, whether such programs or activities are Federally funded or
not);

9.2.8 Titles Il and lll of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, which prohibit

28



discrimination on the basis of disability in the operation of public entities,
public and private transportation systems, places of public accommodation,
and certain testing entities (42 USC §§ 12131 — 12189) as implemented by
U.S. Department of Transportation regulations at 49 CFR parts 37 and 38;

9.2.9 The Federal Aviation Administration’s Nondiscrimination statute (49 USC §

47123) (prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin,
and sex);

9.2.10 Executive Order 12898, Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in

Minority Populations and Low-Income Populations, which ensures
nondiscrimination against minority populations by discouraging programs,
policies, and activities with disproportionately high and adverse human
health or environmental effects on minority and low-income populations;

9.2.11 Executive Order 13166, Improving Access to Services for Persons with

Limited English Proficiency, and resulting agency guidance, national origin
discrimination includes discrimination because of limited English proficiency
(LEP). To ensure compliance with Title VI, you must take reasonable steps to
ensure that LEP persons have meaningful access to your programs (70 Fed.
Reg. at 74087 to 74100);

9.2.12 Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, as amended, which prohibits

you from discriminating because of sex in education programs or activities
(20 USC 1681 et seq.).

Lessee, including personal representatives, successors in interest, and assigns, as
a part of the consideration hereof, does hereby covenant and agree, as a
covenant running with the land, that (1) no person on the ground of race, color,
or national origin, will be excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of,
or be otherwise subjected to discrimination in the use of said facilities, (2) that in
the construction of any improvements on, over, or under such land, and the
furnishing of services thereon, no person on the ground of race, color, or
national origin, will be excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or
otherwise be subjected to discrimination, (3) that Lessee will use the Premises in
compliance with all other requirements imposed by or pursuant to the list of
non-discrimination acts and authorities, as enumerated in the preceding
subsection. In the event of breach of any of the above nondiscrimination
covenants, County will have the right to terminate this Lease and to enter or re-
enter and repossess said land and the facilities thereon, and hold the same as if
the Lease had never been made or issued.

29



9.4 During the performance of this Lease, Lessee, for itself, its assignees, and
successors in interest, agrees as follows:

9.4.1

9.4.2

9.4.3

9.4.4

9.4.5

Nondiscrimination: Lessee, with regard to the work performed by it during
the Lease, will not discriminate on the grounds of race, color, or national
origin in the selection and retention of subcontractors, including
procurements of materials and Agreements of equipment. Lessee will not
participate directly or indirectly in the discrimination prohibited by the
Nondiscrimination Acts and Authorities, including employment practices
when the contract covers any activity, project, or program set forth in
Appendix B of 49 CFR part 21.

Solicitations for Subcontracts, including Procurements of Materials and
Equipment: In all solicitations, either by competitive bidding or negotiation
made by Lessee for work to be performed under a subcontract, including
procurements of materials, or leases of equipment, each potential
subcontractor or supplier will be notified by Lessee of contractor’s
obligations under this Lease and the Nondiscrimination Acts and Authorities.

Information and Reports: Lessee will provide all information and reports
required by the Acts, the Regulations, and directives issued pursuant thereto
and will permit access to its books, records, accounts, other sources of
information, and its facilities as may be determined by Lessor or the FAA to
be pertinent to ascertain compliance with such Nondiscrimination Acts and
Authorities and instructions. Where any information required of a contractor
is in the exclusive possession of another who fails or refuses to furnish the
information, Lessee will so certify to Lessor or the FAA, as appropriate, and
will set forth what efforts it has made to obtain the information.

Sanctions for Noncompliance: In the event of Lessee’s noncompliance with
the non-discrimination provisions of this Lease, Lessor will impose such
contract sanctions as it or the FAA may determine to be appropriate,
including, but not limited to, cancelling, terminating, or suspending this
Lease, in whole or in part.

Incorporation of Provisions: Lessee will include the provisions of this
subsection in every subcontract, including procurements of materials and
leases of equipment, unless exempt by the Acts, the Regulations, and
directives issued pursuant thereto. Lessee will take action with respect to
any subcontract or procurement as Lessor or the FAA may direct as a means
of enforcing such provisions including sanctions for noncompliance.

30



Provided, that if Lessee becomes involved in, or is threatened with litigation
by a subcontractor, or supplier because of such direction, Lessee may
request Lessor to enter into any litigation to protect the interests of Lessor.
In addition, Lessee may request the United States to enter into the litigation
to protect the interests of the United States.

X. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

10.1

Headings. The section headings contained in this Lease are for convenience in

10.2

reference and are not intended to define or limit the scope of any provision.

Time of Essence. Time is of the essence in this Lease.

10.3

Attorneys' Fees. Lessee agree to pay reasonable legal fees or costs incurred by

10.4

Lessor, to the extent Lessor is a prevailing party in any legal action brought by
Lessor to enforce the provisions of this Lease. Lessee shall not be responsible for
such fees or costs if a court of competent jurisdiction finds that Lessor's action
was brought without substantial merit or in bad faith.

Non-Waiver. Waive